III. Introduction

Greensun Group LLC (“Greensun”) challenges Bellevue’ s denial a

business license application which has prevented it from opening up a

state licensed retail marijuana store in downtown Bellevue.

On July 7, 2014, the Washington State Liquor Control Board

(“LCB”) issued its first batch of marijuana retailer licenses under Initiative

502. [CP 371] Among the licenses issued simultaneously that day were

licenses for Greensun and for Par 4, LLC; stores which would be located

across the street from one another. [CP 373] In March of 2014, the

Bellevue City Council adopted Ordinance No. 6156 which contained a

simple prohibition against a retail marijuana store being located within

1000 feet of another retail marijuana store. [CP 6, 253 ¶25]

It is undisputed that Greensun was ready to open its store within

the week following issuance of its retailer marijuana license, while Par 4

required additional work and inspections to do so. [CP 358-359] Greensun

contends that had its business tax registratiOn number, commonly called a

business license, been issued by the City, it could have opened and no

other retail marijuana store would have been within 1000 feet of it.

Nevertheless, City staff declined to issue Greensun a business

license, on the grounds that its operation would violate Ordinance No.

6156 under a First-In-Time Rule adopted by the City staff. [CP 408-9]
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Under the First-In-Time Rule, staff ruled that Par 4 could operate its store

and receive a business license, while Greensun could not. Id. Greensun

contends that the staff lacked authority to impose the First-In-Time Rule,

failed to follow the proper rule making procedures under the Bellevue City

Code, and acted contrary to law in denying Greensun a business license.

Alternatively, if the Court holds that City staff had authority to

adopt their First-In-Time Rule, Greensun asserts that City staff applied

this rule in an arbitrary and capricious manner in violation of its

constitutional rights. Under the last version of the Staffs First-in-Time

Rule, the date of issuance of the marijuana retailer license by the LCB

would determine which licensee was licensed first by the LCB. [CP 405-

6]. No other licensee would be allowed to operate within 1,000 feet of the

first licensee, even if the first licensee was unable to open or had not

completed its final inspection. In this case, both Par 4 and Greensun were

licensed on July 7, 2014. [CP 373]

The City had been advised by both the assistant attorney general

for the LCB and the attorney for Par 4 that LCB had not established an

order of issuance of licenses within the batch of marijuana retailer licenses

it issued on July 7, 2014. [CP195-196, 198] The final decision by City

staff that Par 4 was licensed first was, therefore, unsupported by the facts
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and contrary to the official statements of the LCB. The City’s decision

was an arbitrary choice made outside their own rule.

IV. Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in granting the City’s Motion for Sununary
Judgment; and

2. The trial court erred in denying Greensun’s cross-motion for
partial summary judgment.

V. Statement of Issues

1. Is the First-in-Time Rule adopted by Bellevue administrative staff
without compliance with rule-making procedures established by
the City Council void and, if so, was application of the rule to deny
Greensun its business license a violation of Greensun’ s rights?

2. Did Bellevue administrative staff violate Greensun’ s rights under
the State Constitution by failing to carry out their ministerial duty
to issue a business license and by attempting to impose new policy
to deny Greensun a business license and award one to Par 4?

3. Was Bellevue administrative staff’s implementation of its First-in-
Time Rule based on date of issuance ofmarijuana retailer licenses
by the LCB arbitrary and capricious when the licenses for
Greensun and Par 4 were both dated and issued on July 7, 2014?

4. Does an application for a business license, and the later denial of a
business license, when neither a City Code nor a formal rule
requires a land use review, constitute a Land Use Decision under
the Land Use Petition Act?

V.1. Statement of the Case

Greensun Group LLC has two member-mangers, Seth Simpson

and David AM [CP 28 ¶1]. On November 29, 2012, Seth Simpson leased

the retail store premises at 10600 Main Street in Bellevue, Washington
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with the intent of opening a licensed retail marijuana store under Initiative

502. At’the time, Simpson and Ahl were involved in medical marijuana

operations and felt they were well suited to operate an 1-502 licensed retail

store. [CP 24-25 ¶2].

Pending LCB’s adoption of licensing regulations under 1-502,

Simpson and AM planned to operate a patient-to-patient medical

marijuana facility at 10600 Main Street. Whether the premises was used

for a medical marijuana facility or a retail marijuana store, it needed

cosmetic upgrades, such as new carpet and paint and security upgrades

such as bullet proof glass and metal security doors [CP 353-354]. They

received the business license from the City of Bellevue for a patient-to-

patient medical marijuana operation they had planned and then proceeded

to make the needed upgrades to the premises [CP 355 ¶4].

Shortly after completing those upgrades, an inspector from the City

of Bellevue advised Simpson that he should have obtained a building

permit for the installation of bullet proof glass and metal security doors

and advised him to obtain a building permit for the work to avoid any

problems. On January 8, 2013, Simpson submitted a building permit

application for the premises along with plans which showed all interior

walls, windows and doors. He was advised by a lead person with the

Bellevue Building Department that the application he submitted was
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complete and would be reviewed. He never received a notice from the

City Bellevue that the application he submitted on January 8 for

improvements to the premises was incomplete. Nor did he receive a

formal notice that the building permit application had been denied [CP

354 ¶2].

AM and Simpson abandoned their plans for a medical marijuana

facility after the City obtained a TRO preventing them from opening a

collective garden medical marijuana facility and directed their attorneys to

advise the City of their decision to pursue only a retail marijuana store at

those premises {CP 355-356 ¶5-6]. As soon as the LCB opened up the

process for application for retail store licenses, Ahl and Simpson formed

Greensun Group LLC and applied for a marijuana retailer license for its

store premises at 10600 Main Street in Bellevue. By March 1, 2014,

Greensun’s application had been screened and it was listed by the LCB as

one of the 19 qualified applicants for a retail marijuana store in Bellevue.

At that time, the LCB had also allocated four marijuana retailer licenses

for issuance within the city limits of Bellevue [CP25 ¶4].

In April, 2014, the LCB issued a public memorandum describing

the process it would use for issuing licenses under 1-502. [CP 94-95]

Among other things, the LCB announced it would issue licenses in batches

and that where there were more license applications than the number

Appellant Greensun ‘s Opening Brief 5



allocated for a jurisdiction, a lottery would be conducted to determine

which applicants would be allowed complete the licensing process. Id.

On May 2, 2014, the LCB conducted a lottery to determine which

four of the applicants for marijuana retailer licenses in Bellevue would be

issued the first licenses and the order of the runners up. The application

AM and Simpson had submitted under the name of Greensun was ranked

fifth in that lottery. [CP 356-357 ¶7] The application of High Society, Inc.

was ranked among the top four in the lottery for Bellevue. In its

application, however, High Society had improperly identified as its store

location the store premises at 10600 Main Street which were under lease

to Simpson and AM. Id. This error led to the disqualification of High

Society and the continued processing of Greensun’s application as being

among the top four applicants in the City of Bellevue. Par 4 was also one

of the top four applicants selected in LCB’s lottery for the City of

Bellevue. Id.

On March 17, 2014, Bellevue City Council adopted Ordinance

6156 which extended its interim zoning ordinance for the regulation of

licensed marijuana businesses and added language which stated: “No retail

marijuana store may be located within 1,000 feet of any other retail

marijuana store.” [CP 80]
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In early May, 2014, Bellevue staff members announced its first

Rule for which marijuana license applicants would be “vested” for

purposes of applying the 1,000-foot Separation Rule in Ordinance 6156.

In e-mails to High Society and Par 4 and in a meeting with Seth Simpson,

Reilly Pittman, an Associate Planner for the City of Bellevue, stated that

the applicant who had first submitted a complete application for a building

permit for its store would be vested under the 1,000-foot Separation Rule.

{CP 403, 356-7]. In a meeting with Pittman on May 19, 2014, Simpson

pointed out to him that the building permit application for Greensun’s

premises had been submitted on January 8, 2013 and that, therefore,

Greensun should have priority over Par 4 in application of the 1,000-foot

Separation Rule under the vesting rules he had announced. [CP 3 56-7]

Pittman responded that Greensun could not have priority because it had

not yet been designated as being among the top four applicants under

consideration by the LCB based on the lottery results. Id. On June 5, 2014,

the City received notice from the LCB that Greensun’s application had

been moved up to the fourth position in the lottery results for Bellevue

[CP 115 ¶13]. On June 11,2014, Pittman sent an e-mail to the president of

High Society stating that Par 4 had already “locked down” its location

under City’s vesting rules. {CP 417-418]
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Later in June the City staff departed from its first ad hoc vesting

and announced a new vesting rule in a letter from Catherine A. Drews, a

legal planner in the Development Services Department. {CP 26 ¶6, CP 43-

44 and CP 115-116 ¶15]. The letter, dated June 24, 2014, stated:

In the event two or more retail marijuana applicants seek
licensing from the LCB and are located within 1000 feet of
another potential retail applicant, the City shall consider the
entity that is licensed first by the LCB to be the “first-in
time” applicant. Based on information obtained from the
LCB, if LCB approves your application, you will receive
an electronic billing statement requesting payment of the
$1,000 license fee. Once the LCB receives this fee, the City
understands the LCB will send you a conditional approval
letter that serves as your 30-day marijuana license until you
receive your business license with the marijuana
endorsement from the Washington State Department of
Revenue Business Licensing Service. The issuance date for
the letter serving as your 30-day marijuana license will
determine which entity is first-in-time in terms of how the
City applies the 1000 foot separation requirement for retail
outlets. [CP 115-116~15].

Greensun’s application for a State master business license and its

marijuana retailer license application triggered the electronic submission

of an application for a business license for the City of Bellevue [CP 357

¶8]. Greensun’ s application for a business license with the City of

Bellevue was received by Bellevue in May 2014. In response to that the

business license application, Reilly Pittman sent Greensun a letter dated

June 3, advising Greensun that the City could only approve business

license applications for the four retailers selected by the LCB for the four
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marijuana retail licenses allocated to Bellevue. As a result, he advised

Greensun that its business license could not be issued at that time [CP 114

¶11].

On July 7, 2014, the LCB issued its first batch of marijuana retailer

licenses, which included licenses for Greensun and Par 4 [CP 27 ¶8]. The

LCB staff had been working throughout the holiday weekend to prepare

for the issuance of the licenses. On the morning of July 7, Par 4 received

an email from a customer service agent from the LCB including a

temporary operating permit letter which would function as a license. The

first copy of this letter had two maj or mistakes on it. First it was dated July

3, 2014, before any license had actually been issued by the LCB and,

second, it had an incorrect paragraph that described the applicant’s

responsibility to comply with local zoning ordinances. The same customer

service agent corrected the date and resent the letter shortly thereafter and

then sent a final version with both corrections that afternoon. [CP 5 63-5;

CP 566-8;CP 569-71]

On the afternoon of July 7, 2014, Ahi received an e-mail from a

customer service agent for the LCB with a copy of Greensun’ s marijuana

retailer license with the correct date and language—identical to the final

version provided to Par 4. On July 7, Seth Simpson went to Bellevue City

Hall to obtain Greensun’ s business license from the City. He met with
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Catherine Drews and Reilly Pittman and gave them a copy of the receipt

from the LCB showing that Greensun had paid its licensing fees. He told

them that Greensun’s retailer marijuana license was being issued as they

spoke and that he wanted to pick up its business license and business

registration number for its store at 10600 Main Street so that it could open

for business. Drews cut him off and told him that the City would not issue

a business license to Greensun for its marijuana retail store on Main Street

because it would be issuing a business license to Par 4 for its retail

marijuana store on Main Street. She explained that the City staff

determined that Par 4’s license had been issued first and in accordance

with her letter of June 24, Par 4 would be entitled to a business license

from the City and Greensun would not [CP 27 ¶9].

Simpson responded that the LCB was issuing 25 licenses

simultaneously on July 7 and Par 4 and Greensun licenses were issued at

the same time. She continued to decline to issue Greensun a business

license. Later in the day Greensun filed a copy of its July 7 licensing letter

with the City. Through its attorney it protested that the LCB had made no

record of the order in which licenses had been issued and its record simply

show that both Par 4 and Greensun were issued licenses on July 7 along

with 23 other licensees [CP 28 ¶9 and 10].
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In response to Greensun’ s protests, Assistant City Attorney, Chad

R. Barnes, sent a letter dated July 11, 2014 to Hilary Bricken as attorney

for Par 4 and Zachary L. Fleet as attorney for Greensun. [CP195-196].The

letter opens with an acknowledgment that the clients of each attorney is

seeking to open a retail marijuana outlet within 1,000 feet of the other and

that the City had previously communicated to their clients that the City

will accept the retailer that was first-in-time based on the license issued by

the Liquor Control Board and that each client claims to be first-in-time.

The letter continues to state:

The LCB issued a letter to Green Theory’ on July 3, 2014,
which appears to grant Green Theory a marijuana retail
license; however, Greensun claims that the letter was
issued in error. We have spoken with Assistant Attorney
General Kim O’Neal who has informed us that the LCB
currently takes the position that the July 3, 2014 letter
received by Green Theory was not the actual marijuana
retaillicense despite the language contained in the letter.
0 ‘Neal stated that the actual licenses were issued following
the July 7, 2014 online notice to both your clients. We
asked Ms. O’Neal if the LCB had any way to determine
which entity was actually first issued a marijuana license,
and she indicated that their system was not set up for such a
query.

Barnes invites counsel for the two applicants to send additional

information they may have on the issue and ends the letter by stating, “If

1 Par 4, LLC used Green Theory as its trade name throughout the application

process.
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the City does not receive additional clarity on this issue soon, we will have

no choice but to file an action for declaratory injunctive relief against

Greensun, Green Theory and the Liquor Control Board” [CP195-196].

Counsel for both Greensun and Par 4 submitted materials to

Barnes. Upon receiving their materials, Barnes forwarded materials from

Greensun’s counsel to Par 4’s counsel with follow-up questions without

Greensun’ s materials. Neither Greensun nor its counsel was included in

this communication containing follow up questions to Bricken or provided

an opportunity to respond to the questions Barnes raised. [CP 471] Barnes

did not have further contact with the LCB to obtain further factual

information, nor did he determine why there were multiple letters issued

by the LCB. [CP 744] Rather than seek the declaratory judgment

referenced in his letter, Barnes proceeded to meet with other Bellevue staff

members to reach a final decision on the issuance of business licenses to

Par 4 and Greensun. [CP 455]

Although the record is unclear on how the final decision was made,

it appears that Barnes met with Catherine Drews and possibly one other

staff member to discuss Greensun and Par 4’s business license application.

There are no minutes from this meeting, nor is it clear who decided that

Greensun should not be issued a business license or whether a vote was

taken. [CP 745-46]
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Following the meeting, emails were sent to the various

departments instructing City Staff to deny Greensun’s business license

application. One of these emails was sent to Richard D’Hondt, in the City

Finance Office instructing that office to decline Greensun’ s business

license application. [CP 488] Barnes then wrote Greensun a letter dated

July 29 stating that Greensun’s business license application was denied.

The basis for the decision was that Par 4 was licensed first because an e

mail transmitting Par 4’s licensing letter was received by Par 4—1 hour

and 56 minutes before AM received an e-mail transmitting Greensun’s

licensing letter [CP 49-50].

The undisputed testimony of Seth Simpson in this case is that

Greensun would have opened its retail store on Main Street within one

week of the issuance of its marijuana retailer license by the LCB if the

City had issued Greensun a business license on or before July 7. Greensun

had made all the necessary preparations to begin business operations,

including the purchase of necessary display cabinets, security equipment,

point-of-sale software, computers and safe, all of which were on the

premises. Greensun needed only to move inventory into the store to begin

operations [CP 29 ¶13].

In July, 2014, there was no marijuana retailer located within 1,000

feet of Greensun’ s store at 10600 Main Street. The premises for the
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proposed Par 4 retail marijuana store were vacant. The snowboard store

which had occupied the premises had moved out on June 30. Some

demolition of the snowboard store tenant improvements construction of a

new tenant improvements had begun in July, but the premises were not

ready to operate as a retail marijuana store in July. The work to prepare

Par 4’s premises for a retail store was not completed until late September

or early October and Par 4 did not begin operation of its store until the

first week of October [CP 358-359 ¶10].

WI. Argument

I. When the City failed to follow its own ordinances requiring the
DSD to conduct rule making, the City acted arbitrarily and
capriciously and in violation of Greensun’s rights under the
Washington Constitution.

a. The Trial Court improperly held that the Land Use Director can
adopt a rule withoutfollowing the rule-making provisions ofthe
Bellevue City Code.

The Trial Court committed reversible error in its May 20, 2015,

ruling in two ways: (1) by implying that the Land Use Director could opt

out of the rule making provisions of the Bellevue City Code when

adopting a rule; and (2) by implying that the first in time rule did not

constitute a rule under the Bellevue City Code. Although neither of these

holdings are explicit, they are necessary to reach the Court’s conclusion.

Specifically, the Trial Court stated:
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“The Plaintiff challenges the lack of a formal process to
determine the method to determine who was first in time.
There does not appear to be a requirement under Bellevue
City Code that the Director to promulgate formal rules. The
code is permissive. The Director may promulgate rules.”
[CP 710]

This holding is contrary to the plain language of the Bellevue City

Code. The Bellevue City Code delegates the administration of the Land

Use Code to the Development Services Director with the authority to

implement the Land Use Code. BCC 20.40.100. Further, the Development

Services Director “may adopt rules for the implementation of this title;

provided, the Director shall first hold a public hearing.” Id. (emphasis

added). Agencies only have those powers which are expressly granted or

necessarily implied by a grant of authority, meaning any authority of the

Development Services Director to adopt rules must have a statutory basis.

Green River Cmty. Coil., Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Ed. Pers. Bd., 95 Wn.2d

108, 112, 622 P.2d 826, 829 (1980) opinion mod~JIedon reh’g sub nom.

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