IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

GREENSUN GROUP LLC,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF BELLEVUE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF BELLEVUE

Matthew J. Segal, wsba # 29797 Jessica A. Skelton, wsba # 36748 Jamie L. Lisagor, wsba # 39946 PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone: 206-245-1700

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

2. The superior court properly dismissed Greensun's due process claim.

Greensun either withdrew⁶ or waived all portions of its due process claim on summary judgment. The City sought dismissal of both the procedural and substantive components of Greensun's due process claim on the grounds that Greensun could not establish the required elements of those claims. CP 278-81, 492 (arguing that Greensun could not establish that it was deprived of notice and an opportunity to be heard, had not established the importance of the interest at stake, and did not identify additional procedural safeguards that should have been employed). At the time the City moved for summary judgment based on Greensun's inability to prove the elements of its due process claim, Greensun was obligated to

⁵ Notably, neither of Greensun's two constitutional claims for relief – its privileges and immunities claim or its due process claim – is discussed anywhere in Greensun's Opening Brief.

⁶ Greensun does not and cannot dispute that it expressly withdrew the facial challenge portion of its due process claim. *See* CP 329.

claim. See Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986)). But Greensun's Opposition did not offer any argument in opposition to the dismissal of its due process claim. See CP 329-52. When due process issues were raised at the hearing on the City's Motion, the Court indicated that it believed that Greensun had waived that issue. See Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("VRP") (April 17, 2005) at 8:25-9:6; see also id. at 33:6-16 (by Greensun counsel: "The test is not one of procedural due process.").

Even if Greensun did not waive its procedural due process claim, however, the superior court properly dismissed that claim because Greensun could not prove it as a matter of law. "Procedural due process '[a]t its core is a right to be meaningfully heard, but its minimum requirements depend on what is fair in a particular context." *State v. Derenoff*, 182 Wn. App. 458, 466, 332 P.3d 1001 (2014) (quoting *In re Det. of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 370, 150 P.3d 86 (2007)). In order to recognize a claim for a violation of procedural due process, courts balance three factors:

(1) the private interest affected, (2) the risk of erroneous deprivation of that interest through existing procedures and the probable value, if any, of additional procedural

safeguards, and (3) the governmental interest, including costs and administrative burdens of additional procedures.

Id. (quoting Stout, 159 Wn.2d at 370 (internal citation omitted)).

Greensun failed to establish that it was deprived of the opportunity to be meaningfully heard. To the contrary, the City notified Greensun directly, in writing and on multiple occasions, that it would be applying the 1,000 Foot Separation to Greensun's intended use of the Premises and specifically advised Greensun of the process that would be used to make the First in Time Determination. CP 113, 115-16, 153, 162-66 (May 2, June 24, and June 25 notices). Greensun did not object. *See id.*Moreover, after the City made the initial determination that Par 4 was first in time, it undertook an extensive investigation of all available evidence and made several requests to Greensun to submit evidence to support the conclusion that it was first in time, before the City made its final decision. CP 191-92, 195-241.

Likewise, Greensun cannot establish a violation of procedural due process under the applicable balancing factors. The affected private interest⁷ – the operation of a retail marijuana outlet – is a use that the

⁷ Greensun also was not deprived of any vested right to a business license or to operate a marijuana retail outlet that is not subject to the 1,000 Foot Separation. When the City enacted the 1,000 Foot Separation, Greensun had not submitted a complete business license application to the City, nor had the LCB issued Greensun a marijuana retail license. See CP 114; cf. Potala Village Kirkland, LLC v. City of Kirkland, 183 Wn. App. 191, 213-14, 334 P.3d 1143 (2014) (failure to file a completed application for a

Washington Attorney General already has opined may be banned outright. AGO 2014 No. 2 at 8. Nor has Greensun identified any additional procedural safeguards that were warranted under the circumstances, but which the City failed to employ. To the contrary, Greensun primarily argues that the City should have employed a different process for making the First in Time Determination, namely that it should have issued a license to Greensun because it could have opened sooner than Par 4. See Appellant's Br. at 28. But Greensun fails to articulate how the City could have made such a subjective determination with sufficient procedural safeguards. Moreover, using a criterion such as which applicant was closer to opening its retail store would have directly contradicted the City's position, conveyed in writing to all applicants, that work undertaken by an applicant prior to obtaining an LCB license was at the risk and expense of the applicant. See, e.g., CP 115-16, 165-66 ("Any work undertaken by a potential retail marijuana operator in furtherance of obtaining a state license or improvements related to the proposed location is undertaken solely at the risk and expense of the potential operator.").

building permit bars vesting of rights to zoning or other land use control ordinances). Greensun was also well aware that the City's interim zoning regulations were temporary and, thus, likely to change. See World Wide Video of Wash., Inc., 125 Wn. App. at 308 ("[R]ights are vested only if they are more than a mere expectation that an existing law will continue."). Thus, Greensun cannot establish that the City's application of the 1,000 Foot Separation to the Premises interfered with any vested rights.

The City selected the issuance of the LCB license as the basis for the First in Time Determination because it is the necessary condition under state law for a marijuana retailer to operate legally. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 69.50.354; CP 157 (stating that the City could only approve business licenses for retailers licensed by the LCB). The superior court correctly held that the process used for the First in Time Determination was "neutral on its face" and that Greensun was "notified" of the process. CP 776. Accordingly, the superior court's dismissal of the procedural due process claim should be affirmed.

3. The superior court properly dismissed Greensun's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief.

Greensun's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief depend entirely on the presumption that the 1,000 Foot Separation was applied unconstitutionally to Greensun. *See* CP 9-10. Accordingly, the superior court properly dismissed Greensun's declaratory and injunctive relief claims upon dismissal of its constitutional claims. *See* CP 777.

Moreover, Greensun did not and could not establish any independent basis for declaratory or injunctive relief. The City properly declined to issue Greensun a business license because the license application failed to comply with the City's zoning requirements. *See* CP 191-92, 236-39. Prior to issuing a business license for a location in

Bellevue, the City must determine whether the proposed use conforms to the City land use code ("LUC"), including whether the use is allowed in the underlying land use district. CP 114. Because Greensun's application was properly denied, the superior court lacked the authority to compel the City to issue a business license. *See Kelly v. County of Chelan*, 157 Wn. App. 417, 425, 237 P.3d 346 (2010) (issuance of conditional use permit is not obligatory unless the project complies with applicable zoning and building ordinances). Thus, Greensun failed to establish any entitlement to a declaration that it should receive a business license or injunctive relief compelling the issuance of that license, and thus, the superior court properly dismissed its declaratory and injunctive relief claims.

C. Greensun's Claims Against the City Also Are Barred by Laws Restricting Challenges to Land Use Decisions.

On summary judgment, the City also moved for dismissal of Greensun's claims on the grounds they were time-barred by LUPA. CP 268-74. In rejecting Greensun's claims on their merits, the superior court "assum[ed]" without deciding that Greensun's claims were not barred by LUPA. CP 776. This Court may affirm the superior court's summary judgment order on any grounds supported by the record. *Blue Diamond Grp., Inc. v. KB Seattle 1, Inc.*, 163 Wn. App. 449, 453, 266 P.3d 881 (2011).

As discussed below, LUPA bars Greensun's due process, privileges and immunities, and declaratory and injunctive relief claims. LUPA also bars any stand-alone assertions that the City engaged in arbitrary and capricious conduct in applying the 1,000 Foot Separation to Greensun and in denying Greensun a business license, even though those assertions were not proper claims for relief before the superior court.

1. Greensun's claims are time-barred under LUPA.

LUPA provides "the exclusive means of judicial review of land use decisions," RCW 36.70C.030(1), which are broadly defined to include final determinations on "[a]n interpretative or declaratory decision regarding the application to a specific property of zoning or other ordinances or rules regulating...use of real property," and on "[t]he enforcement by a local jurisdiction of ordinances regulating...the use of real property." RCW 36.70C.020(2)(b), (c).8 LUPA establishes a uniform

⁸ RCW 36.70C.020(2) provides:

[&]quot;Land use decision" means a final determination by a local jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level of authority to make the determination, including those with authority to hear appeals, on:

⁽a) An application for a project permit or other governmental approval required by law before real property may be improved, developed, modified, sold, transferred, or used, but excluding applications for permits or approvals to use, vacate, or transfer streets, parks, and similar types of public property; excluding applications for legislative approvals such as area-wide rezones and annexations; and excluding applications for business licenses;

⁽b) An interpretative or declaratory decision regarding the application to a specific property of zoning or other ordinances or rules regulating the

21-day deadline for appealing a land use decision. RCW 36.70C.040(3). This bright-line rule "prevent[s] parties from delaying judicial review at the conclusion of the local administrative process." *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 406, 120 P.3d 56 (2005); *see also* RCW 36.70C.010 (LUPA's stated purpose is "consistent, predictable, and timely judicial review"). Land use decisions become unreviewable if not appealed to a superior court within LUPA's specified timeline. RCW 36.70C.040(2). "[E]ven illegal decisions must be challenged in a timely, appropriate manner." *Habitat Watch*, 155 Wn.2d at 407.

LUPA specifically applies to the City's land use decision challenged by Greensun in this case. See, e.g., Brotherton v. Jefferson County, 160 Wn. App. 699, 704, 249 P.3d 666 (2011) (LUPA covers denial of land owner's request for a waiver of land use regulations); Asche v. Bloomquist, 132 Wn. App. 784, 791, 133 P.3d 475 (2006), as amended (Apr. 4, 2006) (LUPA applies to an "interpretation of the County zoning ordinance as applied to this piece of property"). The timeline relating to the City's land use decision is as follows:

improvement, development, modification, maintenance, or <u>use of real property</u>; and

⁽c) The enforcement by a local jurisdiction of ordinances regulating the improvement, development, modification, maintenance, or <u>use of real property</u>. However, when a local jurisdiction is required by law to enforce the ordinances in a court of limited jurisdiction, a petition may not be brought under this chapter.

Id. (emphasis added).

- May 2, 2014. The City determined that Ordinance No. 6156, which "contains a requirement that no marijuana retailer shall be located within 1,000 feet of any another marijuana retailer[,]...is applicable to retail marijuana locations." CP 153 (notice sent to all potential businesses seeking to operate retail marijuana outlets within the City, including Greensun and Par 4).
- June 24, 2014. The City decided how it would apply the 1,000 Foot Separation to retail marijuana locations in the City, *i.e.*, the First In Time Determination. CP 165-66 (notice sent to all potential businesses seeking to operate retail marijuana outlets within the City, including Greensun and Par 4).
- June 25, 2014. The City conditionally approved the location specified by Greensun for use as a marijuana retail outlet with the caveat that City code required "recreational marijuana retail outlets be separated from each other by a minimum distance of 1,000 feet" and that the proposed "use may be prohibited at the proposed location based on the order the State issues the retail licenses." CP 162-63.
- <u>July 29, 2014</u>. After requesting and reviewing submissions by Greensun and Par 4 and the LCB's response to the City's public records request, the City determined that Par 4 received its license from the LCB before Greensun and, thus, the 1,000 Foot Separation prohibited Greensun from operating a retail marijuana outlet at the Premises. CP 236-37 (notice sent to Greensun and Par 4).

Even taking these facts in the light most favorable to Greensun, the City's land use decision applying the 1,000 Foot Separation to the Premises using the First in Time Determination was final no later than July 29, 2014. As a result, Greensun was obligated to file a LUPA petition no later than August 19, 2014.

Importantly, Greensun <u>never</u> sought relief from the 1,000 Foot Separation or the First in Time Determination until it filed this untimely declaratory action against the City on November 3, 2014, more than three months after the City's final decision on this issue. CP 113, 191-92. In fact, even though all of Greensun's arguments in this case, including its constitutional claims, "arise directly from" the City's land use decision and Greensun seeks reversal of that decision, Greensun has never sought review under LUPA. *See Brotherton*, 160 Wn. App. at 704 (rejecting property owners' argument that LUPA did not apply to constitutional challenge to land use regulation, where the relief sought by property owners was reversal of the County's final land use decision) (citing *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn. App. 104, 107-08, 147 P.3d 641 (2006)).

Moreover, because of its protracted delay, Greensun has now effectively precluded meaningful judicial review for all of the impacted parties, including Greensun, Par 4, and the City. See CP 6 (Par 4 opened on October 7, 2014, about a month before Greensun filed this suit); RCW 36.70C.050 (providing for the disclosure and joinder of any person who "may be needed for just adjudication of the petition"). Instead of joining Par 4 in a timely LUPA petition to resolve the parties' respective rights,

Greensun waited until Par 4 opened and established its business, and then brought this untimely judicial challenge to the City's land use decision.

In Washington, statutes of limitation governing land use challenges (such as LUPA's 21 day provision) reflect a consistent policy to require review of decisions affecting use of land expeditiously "so that legal uncertainties can be promptly resolved and land development not be unnecessarily delayed by litigation-based delay." Bellewood No. 1, LLC v. LOMA, 124 Wn. App. 45, 49, 97 P.3d 747 (2004). The Washington Supreme Court recently reaffirmed this policy and explained that even when the "result may seem harsh and unfair, ... '[l]eaving land use decisions open to reconsideration long after the decisions are finalized places property owners in a precarious position and undermines the Legislature's intent to provide expedited appeal procedures in a consistent, predictable and timely manner." Durland v. San Juan. County, 182 Wn.2d 55, 59-60, 340 P.3d 191 (2014) (holding that in order to prevent untimely collateral attacks on land use decisions, the LUPA time limit runs against even those without actual or constructive notice) (quoting Chelan County v. Nykreim, 146 Wn.2d 904, 933, 52 P.3d 1 (2002)).

The same policies apply with equal force here. Greensun chose to wait to bring this action until months after the City adopted, interpreted, and applied its zoning regulations to Greensun's proposed use of the

Premises. Thus, this Court should affirm the superior court's dismissal of Greensun's claims because they are time-barred under LUPA.

2. Greensun fails in its attempt to avoid application of LUPA.

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